
675 Texas Street

Fairfield, California 94533

www.solanocounty.com

Solano County

Minutes - Final
Board of Supervisors

Erin Hannigan (Dist. 1), Chairwoman

(707) 553-5363

Linda J. Seifert (Dist. 2), Vice-Chair

(707) 784-3031

James P. Spering (Dist. 3)

(707) 784-6136

John M. Vasquez (Dist. 4)

(707) 784-6129

Skip Thomson (Dist. 5)

(707) 784-6130

8:30 AM Board of Supervisors ChambersTuesday, January 12, 2016

CALL TO ORDER

The Solano County Board of Supervisors met on the 12th day of January 

2016 in regular session in the Board of Supervisors' Chambers at the Solano 

County Government Center, 675 Texas Street, Fairfield, California at 8:30 

a.m.  Present were Supervisors Seifert, Spering, Thomson, Vasquez and 

Chairwoman Hannigan.  Chairwoman Hannigan presided.  Also present 

were County Administrator Birgitta E. Corsello and County Counsel Dennis 

Bunting.

ROLL CALL

Linda J. Seifert, Erin Hannigan, James P. Spering, John M. Vasquez and 

Skip  Thomson
Present 5 - 

CLOSED SESSION

1 16-68 Conference with Labor Negotiators:

Solano County representatives: Marc Fox, Jeannine Seher, David Pak, 

Georgia Cochran, Birgitta E. Corsello, and Nancy Huston. Employee 

organizations: Solano County Sheriff’s Custody Association for Unit 13 

(Correctional Officers); Teamsters, Local 856 for Unit 14 (Correctional 

Supervisors)

Conference with Real Property Negotiators:

Property: 900-1000 Fairgrounds Drive, Vallejo (APN 0052-240-550 and 

0052-240-560); Agency negotiators: Birgitta E. Corsello, County 

Administrator, Nancy Huston, Assistant County Administrator, Stephen 

Pierce, Solano County Fair Manager and Tom Sinclair; Negotiating party: 

Todd Chapman, Darius Anderson and Jay Wallace; Under negotiation: Price 

and terms

Page 1Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9405


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

A - MemorandumAttachments:

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the Board 

approved the amendment to the Closed Session item to add the following: 

Public Employee Appointments: Assistant Director of Health and Social 

Services, Assistant Director of Information Technology, Information 

Technology Manager and Superintendent of Juvenile Detention Facility. So 

ordered by 5-0 vote.

RECONVENE

This meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors reconvened at 9:00 

a.m.  All members were present and Chairwoman Hannigan presided.

REPORT OF ACTION IN CLOSED SESSION (IF APPLICABLE)

County Counsel Dennis Bunting advised that there were no reports from 

Closed Session.

SALUTE TO THE FLAG AND A MOMENT OF SILENCE

This meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors continued with the 

Salute to the Flag and a Moment of Silence.

PRESENTATIONS

4 16-70 Receive a presentation from the District Attorney on the selection of Monica 

Martinez for "Employee of the Month Parking" for January 2016

Minute OrderAttachments:

Received

3 16-40 Recognize Lisa Wamble, Probation Services Manager, as the recipient of 

the 2015 California Association of Probation Service Administrators (CAPSA) 

Member of the Year Award and the continued community services efforts of 

the Probation Department staff

Minute OrderAttachments:

Received

Page 2Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a735bc9c-4593-484b-9b6d-c529feff32dd.doc
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9407
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fe749f77-8cb4-46bd-afa0-d522e8c9b226.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9376
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f9422d11-3d97-4b35-8c16-31291321d020.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on matters not listed on the agenda but within the subject matter jurisdiction 

of the Board.  The following comments were received:

A) Rich Giddens, Suisun City, commented on his remarks at the last Board

meeting, illegal immigration, e-verification support and road taxes.

B) George Guynn, Jr., Suisun City, commented on public representation,

remarks at the last Board meeting, and e-verification.

2 16-61 Recognize Lyndsey Elm of Vacaville for her achievements on the television 

show “The Voice” and for the positive example she sets for youth in the 

County who wish to pursue big dreams

A - Certificate of Recognition

Minute Order

Attachments:

Received

ADDITIONS TO OR DELETIONS FROM THE AGENDA

There were no additions to or deletions from the Solano County Board of 

Supervisors' agenda for January 12, 2016.

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the Board 

approved the agenda of the Solano County Board of Supervisors for January 

12, 2016 as submitted.  So ordered by 5-0 vote.

PUBLIC COMMENT ON CONSENT CALENDAR

Supervisor Spering noted that he needed to recuse himself from Item 7 and 

requested that the item be removed and voted on separately.

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on items listed on the Consent Calendar. The following comments were 

received:

A) Donald Tipton, unincorporated Vallejo, commented on Item 11 regarding

the percentage for the County.

Page 3Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9398
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a957c816-004d-4ac1-98e0-c035ea4b231e.docx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e3a5ef92-065c-4b0e-8004-bc5de5570b06.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT CALENDAR

On motion of Supervisor Spering, seconded by Supervisor Seifert, the Board 

approved the following Consent Calendar items with the following item being 

removed from the Consent Calendar for discussion:

Item 7, File 16-59:  Approve the Lease Agreement with Fairfield Clovis 

Properties, LLC for 1055 Horizon Drive, Suite B, Fairfield, for a 5-year term 

commencing March 1, 2016 and expiring February 28, 2021 for $1,564 per 

month with a 3% annual increase; and Authorize the County Administrator to 

execute the lease and any subsequent modifications or amendments.  

So ordered by 5-0 vote.

CONSENT CALENDAR

5 16-51 Receive the Follow-Up Review Report on the County’s Surplus Property 

Program Evaluation Report previously issued on February 21, 2014

A - Surplus Property Evaluation Follow-up Review Report

Minute Order

Attachments:

Received

6 16-58 Receive the Audit of the Statement of Assets of the Solano County Treasury 

as of June 30, 2015

A - Treasury Audit Report

Minute Order

Attachments:

Received

8 16-41 Approve the annual Certification Statement Regarding Composition of the 

Solano County Local Child Care and Development Planning Council 

Membership 

A - Certification of Membership

Executed Certification of Membership

Minute Order

Attachments:

Approved

Page 4Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9388
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7cbce785-fe15-4dcd-a00d-962315cfd85f.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e1aa6f86-90c2-4704-a7fa-ec0782e6ca5c.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9395
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=06c811aa-e871-4c70-8796-edf09f146ab6.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=39e55b17-bfd7-4452-b58f-8b692711c21f.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9377
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b44c98e6-6c65-479d-9df2-16112a2c787d.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ec0b7e40-1a29-40dd-830f-1a98fd005ffe.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3c1ed199-0c2a-464c-8e88-fb9be72d84ba.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

9 16-20 Approve five contract amendments for services to the County for the 

Women’s Recovery Achievement Program (WRAP) with Patricia Nicodemus, 

Irona Lofton, Patty Ayala, Susan Foreman and Nena Messina from 

December 31, 2015 to March 31, 2016, for a combined increase of $122,074 

for a new total of $369,242, to provide case management and consultation 

services to women re-entering the community after incarceration; and 

Authorize the County Administrator to the execute the contract amendments 

A - Nicodemus 2nd Amendment

B - Lofton 2nd Amendment

C - Ayala 2nd Amendment

D - Foreman 3rd Amendment

E - Messina 2nd Amendment

F - Links to Executed Contracts and Previous Amendments

Minute Order

Nicodemus Executed Amendment

Lofton Executed Amendment

Ayala Executed Amendment

Foreman Executed Amendment

Messina Executed Amendment

Attachments:

Approved

10 15-0966 Approve a five-year contract with the Regents of the University of California, 

on behalf of the University of California, Davis, Center for Reducing Health 

Disparities (CRHD) for $1,200,000 annually for the period beginning January 

1, 2016 through December 31, 2020 (5 years) for a total contract amount of 

$6,000,000 to improve utilization of mental health services in underserved 

populations pursuant to the Solano County Mental Health Services Act 

(MHSA) Plan; and Authorize the County Administrator to execute the 

agreement 

A - Contract

Executed Contract

Minute Order

Attachments:

Approved

11 16-62 Adopt a resolution to affirm the County’s commitment to reduce the number 

of people with mental illnesses in our County jails, commit to sharing lessons 

learned with other counties in our state and across the country to support a 

national initiative, and encourage all county officials, employees and 

residents to participate in the “Stepping Up” initiative

A - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2016-08

Page 5Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9343
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a9a823bf-220f-42df-bbd9-c525db734cc4.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4322107e-3950-4881-b97e-8a978947d296.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c91dfc74-5293-4d98-96f4-db3b038dbea6.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d1f2f6c5-dba1-464a-8d18-aea7bcecfc72.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2e74d186-b5cf-4e95-ab6c-a2f0a67b3b24.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f036dfb3-b44f-4176-b0fe-95787601491f.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b9bee6c6-bc2e-4375-b8b7-2692bb9598f8.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a02dc11d-1ea1-4880-90c1-2b24369b33e0.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=eb01ac56-f768-436a-bd7a-2002dc607179.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3cbecdd3-6259-4c68-b30c-773e40f88557.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9393eba5-753e-47dc-a3ae-342302d281e6.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=82bb9395-79e1-4546-bc9f-57591ed26117.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9053
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5de3037f-9863-4877-995e-ffc8d8a5d882.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=50be17a8-50db-46b7-9e85-350c24d92072.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fd8bde62-63b2-4583-a138-077cbddba000.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9399
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fe60066c-a3d8-47de-a61d-741a3430ecfc.docx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e380a226-faae-41ea-8cbd-c3979431ac50.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4791478f-61fb-4d20-b33c-a58a55e09f66.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

12 16-54 Approve a contract amendment with Richard Watson in the amount of 

$19,000, for a total contract amount of $64,000, to provide operational 

oversight of Juvenile Hall Services through March 31, 2016  

A - Contract Amendment

B - Original Contract

Executed Contract Amendment

Minute Order

Attachments:

Approved

13 16-47 Adopt a resolution authorizing submittal of all eligible grant and payment 

program applications to the California Department of Resources Recycling 

and Recovery (CalRecycle) through 2021; and Authorize the Director of 

Resource Management, or his/her designee, to execute all  documents 

necessary to secure funding and implement the grant or payment program

A - Resolution

B - Awards from FY2010/12 - FY2015/16

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2016-09

14 16-49 Adopt a resolution approving Traffic Order 421, establishing an eastbound 

stop sign on Cherry Glen Road at the intersection with Pleasants Valley 

Road

A - Location Map

B - Resolution

Adopted Resolution

Minute Order

Attachments:

Adopted

Enactment No: Resolution 2016-10

MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS

15 16-67 Approve the reappointment of Cliff Neal to the Civil Service Commission, 

representing District 4, for a term to expire on January 1, 2020

Minute OrderAttachments:

Approved

16 16-28 Approve the reappointment of Mark Burton to the Civil Service Commission, 

representing District 5, for a term to expire January 1, 2020

Minute OrderAttachments:

Approved

Page 6Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9391
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=449b0626-d159-4727-8761-40a5307a7bcc.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1bfa7dc4-6cc6-4a88-8a0b-be5aaef83422.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a5d0ba49-efc7-4db8-adbb-9194da094736.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c358052c-4189-49c3-bca0-0df55607aa97.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9384
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=499e3573-4764-4f87-a493-4ae47e794e8f.doc
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f905156d-83d4-4b8d-b2ea-0bbacca516ac.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4ab1ebea-bb23-477b-a212-fccb99050c84.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=25a00770-1c6a-4e20-96b2-517f2be6972a.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9386
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=40cbadc5-21d7-4e6e-9317-7ea14b1e31e7.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6542cd60-393a-442d-947c-ea8a76dea995.doc
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4e626a7c-79c8-4c1e-8901-82e74aaafb41.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=03e6e163-4a7d-4a32-a5c3-0e6e2a28a22f.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9404
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=18cae17e-cdc3-4668-8727-494eba2aa1c6.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9351
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=65fb23ea-15cf-459b-a6e3-2d44a8d30fd4.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

17 15-1192 Approve the appointment of Ross Sagun to the Airport Land Use 

Commission, representing District 2, to complete an unexpired term to expire 

May 2, 2016

Minute OrderAttachments:

Approved

REGULAR CALENDAR

7 16-59 Approve the Lease Agreement with Fairfield Clovis Properties, LLC for 1055 

Horizon Drive, Suite B, Fairfield, for a 5-year term commencing March 1, 

2016 and expiring February 28, 2021 for $1,564 per month with a 3% annual 

increase; and Authorize the County Administrator to execute the lease and 

any subsequent modifications or amendments

A - Available Warehouse Space for Lease

B - Proposed Lease Agreement

C - Notice of Intention to Consummate Lease of Real Property

Executed Lease Agreement

Minute Order

Attachments:

Supervisor Spering was excused from the dais due to a personal conflict of 

interest.

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on this matter and the following comments were received:

A) Donald Tipton, unincorporated Vallejo, commented on the item asking for

more information on the need for a lease.

County Administrator Birgitta Corsello provided the Board with information on 

the item regarding the state of the current facility and the need to lease a 

new one while staff worked on finance planning for a permanent facility in 

the future.

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the Board 

approved the Lease Agreement with Fairfield Clovis Properties, LLC for 1055 

Horizon Drive, Suite B, Fairfield, for a 5-year term commencing March 1, 2016 

and expiring February 28, 2021 for $1,564 per month with a 3% annual 

increase; and Authorized the County Administrator to execute the lease and 

any subsequent modifications or amendments.  So ordered by 4-0 vote.

Supervisor Spering returned to the dais.

Approved

Page 7Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9310
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0b44a14a-2380-4067-8262-95d97b6a1fdb.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9396
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7fafd014-efef-4384-bf46-4c2161f7a706.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=06a03902-95e3-466a-94fe-53f18a66f4f1.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a36886a1-704c-4c85-a547-26f9435a15d4.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=29d0672d-c89b-4fe1-ba44-3f87b4056051.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=96001e73-e403-455b-a051-e86fb943932b.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

18 16-57 Receive a report from Strategic Research Institute and O’Brien Consulting 

regarding the feasibility of establishing a regional parks system in Solano 

County; consider direction to move forward on the next steps, including 

determination of the most appropriate legislative action, leading to formation 

of a dependent form of a Regional Park System or District;  Accept an 

assessment of potential regional park properties in Solano County: Authorize 

staff to continue with community outreach and engagement directed at 

increasing public awareness of regional parks and open space opportunities; 

Appropriate up to $75,000 to the Resource Management Department budget 

for consultant services to assist staff with these initiatives; and Authorize the 

Director of Resource Management to enter into contracts for such services

A - Regional Parks Needs Assessment Report

B - Executive Summary of Consultant Report

C - Presentation

Presentation - Exploring the Potential for a Regional Parks and Open Space System in Solano County

Presentation - Support for...Creating Regional Integrated Park System

Correspondence from Greenbelt Alliance

Golden Lands Report referred to in correspondence

Minute Order

Attachments:

Director of Resource Management Bill Emlen introduced the item.

Supervisor Vasquez thanked everyone involved in working on the report.

Supervisor Seifert also thanked everyone and commented on the tour taken 

of the potential assets that could be included in a regional park system.

Mr. Emlen thanked the Board subcommittee for their support of the report. 

He then provided the Board with an overview of the background of activities, 

assessment of potential regional park and open space properties, a map 

showing distribution of the regional parks and open spaces.

Consultant Pat O'Brien provided the Board with an overview of the report 

regarding polling results in support of creating a Regional Integrated Park 

System.

Dr. George Manross of Strategic Research Institute provided the Board with 

an overview of the report regarding polling results in support of the following 

topics: Availability of recreation lands and facilities to improve the quality of 

life for residents of Solano County; Access to open spaces and natural areas 

contribute to one's overall health: With more recreational opportunities 

children do better in school; Regional parks, trails and scenic landscapes 

provide important economic benefits; Parks, trails and open space increase 

property values; Parks and recreational facilities must be properly 

maintained; Additional parklands and trails should be acquired and opened. 

Mr. O'Brien provided an overview of the polling results regarding governance 

of a regional park system, noting that a dependent model of governance was 

preferred by those polled. 

Page 8Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9394
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e08cebfe-9bcf-4166-a19d-60ba00197c97.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9b0785bf-b403-4c8d-9049-ffdaa4a96369.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c06d2889-fc06-4927-bd23-027685de36c3.pptx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e9276c3a-0761-4464-9fb0-9139cebf7bc5.pptx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=643f2c2c-ff2d-4253-b567-8eec3eab0dfa.pptx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=59922cb4-d502-441c-970e-27b118cf085c.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fc82053b-40aa-4ef7-a5e7-27e9f9bc92c1.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=945b7bce-84c1-44d5-849b-3e7d3f2aebcd.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Spering commented on the executive summary noting that the 

governance model numbers didn't match with the presentation.

Dr. Manross provided the Board with information on the calculation of the 

dependent governance model including a breakdown of the types of 

dependent governance choices.

Supervisor Spering suggested adding a footnote to the report to explain the 

results.

Dr. Manross continued to provide the Board with an overview of the report 

regarding polling results for a sales tax measure, noting that there was 

potential support of 36% and likely support of 25.5%.

Mr. O'Brien provided an overview of polling results for spending priorities 

noting that protection of natural habitats and wildlands was the top priority of 

those polled.

Dr. Manross provided an overview of the recommendations of the report, 

advising that County officials should consider to move forward with creating 

a Regional Park and Open Space System in Solano County and that County 

officials should not pursue voter approved funding for regional parks at this 

time. 

Supervisor Thomson asked about data to support the percentage used for 

the results of the poll regarding support for a sales tax measure.

Dr. Manross provided the Board with information on the calculation and data 

used to come up with the percentage.

Supervisor Thomson noted that he supported the concept but was 

concerned about figuring out how to pay to maintain the park system. He 

commented that property owners would likely not be willing to support a 

parcel tax and asked if there was a nexus between public outreach and the 

governing body. He noted concerns with deciding on a governing body at 

this point when funding had not been figured out and recommended 

conducting public outreach to gather support first.

Mr. Emlen noted that staff was suggesting moving forward to evaluate what 

type of model would work best for the County and that funding would be 

based on the current baseline park budget. He further noted that creating the 

park system would open up opportunities and create an identity for staff to 

work with while doing public outreach. Lastly, he advised that staff was 

looking at an incremental approach and that everything would take time.

Dr. Manross commented on the agricultural community's concerns and trust 

in the Board to govern.

Page 9Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Mr. O'Brien also noted that there could be development of an image and 

branding that could benefit the future efforts to go after opportunities for 

funding, etc.

Mr. Emlen noted that there would be more information put together and 

brought back to the Board within the next few months.  He advised that staff 

would like to know now if the Board was comfortable moving forward to keep 

looking at this and bring back a specific proposal.

Supervisor Spering commented on the recommendations and noted no 

mention of a stronger coordination between the existing parks and agencies 

or another way to accomplish the regional system with the existing agencies. 

He further noted the need for public outreach to be conducted first and then 

staff should come back with a recommendation. He then asked if a financial 

analysis had been conducted on the different tiers.

Mr. Emlen noted that Tier 1 was the County parks that operated within the 

current budget and that work had started to look at Tier 2 or 3, however he 

advised staff was recommending Tier 1.

Supervisor Spering commented on maintenance costs and recommended 

that the financial analysis and public outreach be done first and that staff 

then bring back a recommendation for the best park system and how to fund 

it. He further noted the value of investing in the park system and importance 

of how to sustain it.

Supervisor Seifert commented on Supervisor Spering's remarks and noted 

that adjustments could be made to the order of the recommendations if 

needed. She then commented on public outreach and involvement with all of 

the stakeholders. She also commented on having a model in place in order 

to enable staff to go out and seek funding.

Supervisor Spering asked that the public outreach include the topic of 

governance.

Supervisor Seifert commented on the importance of moving forward to try to 

get a governance structure in place.

County Administrator Birgitta Corsello noted that the Board was the largest 

stakeholder in terms of holder of land and resources. She advised that 

someone needed to take that first step forward to create public awareness of 

a regional park system and allow staff to look at leveraging components 

already in place in order to provide a public presence around the issue. She 

further advised that someone needed to take the leadership role to look at 

how to create the regional park system and noted that the consultants had 

looked at the market today regarding voters' values, stakeholders' want. 

Lastly, she advised that the Board needed to give staff direction on whether 

to work on the independent model and bring it back or not. 

Supervisor Vasquez commented on the need for the subcommittee to 

receive direction on how the majority of the Board wanted to move forward. 

Page 10Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

He then commented on the polling results and how to formalize the structure 

for the regional park system. Lastly he commented on the importance of 

maintaining public trust and using caution to prevent raising expectations too 

high. 

Mr. Emlen commented that several stakeholders were in the audience and 

that there was a myriad of partnership opportunities out there. He advised 

that it was staff's intention to include the governance model in public 

outreach.

Mr. O'Brien noted again that it would be important to establish a branding for 

the system.

Chairwoman Hannigan commented on use of the parks and open spaces, 

the need to have one location to find all the park information, and protecting 

open space. She noted that Solano Open Space has been talking about 

creating a regional park since 2008 and that this process was a first right 

step. She then commented on the need to create an identity to bring 

together the partners and go to the public with it. Lastly, she commented on 

research showing that access to parks make communities healthier and 

promoting healthy communities. 

Supervisor Thomson noted that he supported a regional park system but 

was concerned about financing. He commented on past reduction of park 

fees to keep from excluding anyone, the County's record of park 

administration, future impacts on the General Fund from other projects and 

liabilities, and finding out the willingness of citizens to tax themselves or 

whether they were happy with the current park system as it was. He advised 

that he looked  forward to the final report to show whether the regional park 

system was able to realistically be funded.

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on this matter and the following comments were received:

A) Donald Tipton, unincorporated Vallejo, commented on the costs of the

researching the regional park system, park use, stakeholders, current issues 

the County will be dealing with, park acreage that would be needed for a 

regional system, and use of taxpayers' money.

B) George Guynn, Jr., Suisun City, commented on financing and acreage

size of the park system, burden on taxpayers, prioritizing issues and focusing 

on water availability.

C) Bob Berman, Benicia, commented in support of the creation of a regional

park system, the need for more work to be done in the areas of governance 

and funding.

Page 11Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Vasquez commented on Lake Berryessa noting that it was the 

public that approved the amenities for the lake. He then noted that it would 

be a hard sell for the regional park system but that it would be supported in 

the end. He commented on the need to have a plan in place and noted that 

Lynch Canyon was an opportunity where the County and the Open Space 

agencies worked together successfully.

In response to a question from Supervisor Spering, Dr. Manross noted that 

the recommendation was to begin public outreach discussions about what 

type of governance model was wanted.

Supervisor Spering noted the importance of hearing from other stakeholders 

on what the governance model should be and requested that staff bring it 

back afterwards for the Board to vote on.

Supervisor Seifert expressed agreement and commented on the need for 

public education and definition around the governance model. 

On motion of Supervisor Vasquez, seconded by Supervisor Seifert, the Board 

received the report from Strategy Research Institute (SRI) and O’Brien 

Consulting summarizing the results of their community outreach process and 

research efforts focused on community interest and feasibility of establishing 

a regional parks system in Solano County; and Directed staff to move forward 

with next steps towards the formation of a dependent form of a Regional Parks 

System or District, likely initially reflecting the properties currently managed by 

the County and utilizing the baseline County Parks budget within the Resource 

Management Department as core funding for the District and return back to the 

Board prior to the end of the fiscal year with a specific legislative proposal; 

and Accepted the Assessment of Potential Regional Park Properties in Solano 

County and directed staff to seek potential grant opportunities that could 

enhance the viability of these properties as Regional Park System assets: and 

Authorized staff, working in support of the Parks Subcommittee, to continue 

with community outreach and engagement directed at increasing public 

awareness of regional park system opportunities in Solano County to better 

gauge community interest in a funding measure in the next few years and not 

to pursue a revenue measure for regional parks/open spaces at this time, 

based on SRI’s initial research efforts and staff’s analysis; and Appropriated 

up to $75,000 to the Resource Management Department budget for consultant 

services to assist staff in the above initiatives, and authorized the Director of 

Resource Management to enter into contracts for such services.  So ordered 

by 5-0 vote.

Page 12Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

12:00 P.M.

CLOSED SESSION

19 16-69 Conference with Labor Negotiators:

Solano County representatives: Marc Fox, Jeannine Seher, David Pak, 

Birgitta E. Corsello, and Nancy Huston. Employee organizations: Teamsters, 

Local 150 for Unit 1 (Attorneys); SEIU Local 1021 for Unit 2 (Nurses), Unit 5 

(Health and Welfare  Employees), Unit 7 (Regulatory, Technical and General 

Services Employees), Unit 8 (General Services Supervisors), Unit 9 (Clerical 

Employees) and Units 82, 87, 89, and 90 (Extra Help Employees); Solano 

County Deputy Sheriff’s Association for Unit 3 (Law Enforcement 

Employees) and Unit 4 (Law Enforcement Supervisors); Public Employees 

Union, Local One for Unit 6 (Health and Welfare Supervisors) and Unit 16 

(Mid-Management Employees); Stationary Engineers, Local 39 for Unit 10 

(Skilled Craft and Service Maintenance Employees); Union of American 

Physicians and Dentists for Unit 11 (Physicians, Dentists and Psychiatrists); 

Solano County Probation Peace Officer Association for Unit 12 (Probation 

Employees) and Unit 15 (Probation Supervisors); Solano County Sheriff’s 

Custody Association for Unit 13 (Correctional Officers); Teamsters, Local 

856 for Unit 14 (Correctional Supervisors); Solano County Law Enforcement 

Management Association for Unit 17 (Law Enforcement Management) and 

Unit 18 (Sheriff’s Office Management); Professional and Technical 

Engineers, Local 21 for Unit 19 (Executive and Senior Management); and 

unrepresented employees

In-Home Supportive Services Authority representatives: Marc Fox, Gerald 

Huber and Birgitta E. Corsello. Employee organization: SEIU Local 2015

A - MemorandumAttachments:

2:00 P.M.

REPORT OF ACTION IN CLOSED SESSION (IF APPLICABLE)

County Counsel Dennis Bunting advised that there were no reports from 

Closed Session.

20 16-50 Receive a status report on the California EcoRestore Program from David 

Okita, Delta Restoration Coordinator of the California Natural Resources 

Agency

A - Presentation

Minute Order

Attachments:

Director of Resource Management Bill Emlen introduced the item.

Page 13Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9406
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=94e3a0ec-0369-436a-a9fe-fb68ac660c89.doc
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9387
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9406c315-467b-4ff8-bc97-bb0e01a7d7c2.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5eaeceff-f749-47b2-90e3-a8e50e69f162.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Delta Restoration Coordinator of the California Natural Resources Agency 

David Okita provided the Board with an overview of the status report on the 

California EcoRestore Program, formerly the Bay Delta Conservation Plan 

(BDCP).

Supervisor Thomson commented on the 30,000 acres identified under the 

program and asked what programs the balance of the BDCP's remaining 

from the 220,000 acres could be found.

Mr. Okita noted that there was no funding allocated beyond the 30,000 

acres. He commented on possible future opportunities for the additional 

acreage.

Supervisor Spering asked if there was any economic impact on Solano 

County from the EcoRestore Program.

Mr. Emlen noted that staff felt there was going to be impacts and 

commented the next agenda item would have more information on what 

those were.

Chairwoman Hannigan asked if any of the projects required an acquisition of 

prime farm land within the county.

Mr. Okita advised that most of the projects were currently on publicly 

controlled lands and that there were some private properties that came 

forward through the Request for Proposals (RFP) process. He then advised 

that the RFPs would identify the type of land.

Supervisor Seifert asked how much money was in the pool for RFP process.

Mr. Okita commented that where was approximately $60 million dollars for 

FY2016/17.

In response to a question from Supervisor Seifert, Mr. Okita provided the 

Board with information about the RFP process that would be used to 

evaluate projects.

Supervisor Seifert asked what the impact would be on local governments for 

the perceived projects and what role the governments would play in the RFP 

process.

Mr. Okita advised that it was a public process with a draft RFP to review and 

comment on. He then noted that projects could start in 2016 and would have 

a CEQA (California Environmental Quality Act) process for each.

Supervisor Seifert advised that the County should have more of a role and 

participation in the RFP process than just being allowed to make comments 

as it was central to much of the restoration projects.  She further advised 

that there should be a team effort in order to find the benefits for everyone.

Page 14Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Mr. Okita advised that they could sit down with the County staff and 

leadership to address any concerns the County had on projects, however he 

could not say whether there would be a formal process to include the County 

as a decision maker in the process.

Supervisor Seifert advised that the review of projects with County staff and 

leadership was a must and that the need for a more formal process to 

include the County in the RFP process was very important.

Supervisor Vasquez advised that the County would like to know when the  

projects were going to be talked about so that concerns could be addressed 

before the formal process took place. He then commented that there was a 

concerning sense of the loss of local control and advised that potential 

impacts should be made known to the County ahead of time and the County 

allowed to have input on those. 

Mr. Okita commented on a past Cache Slough Study and advised that they 

would do the best they could to keep the County informed and to mitigate 

concerns.

Supervisor Vasquez advised that that approach was putting the County in a 

defensive position instead a collaborative position and that the County may 

react differently than what the state would like.

Received

21 16-60 Receive an update on the County’s Delta Water Program and activities, 

including environmental review and related processes for the Delta tunnels 

project, tracking drought legislation, ecosystem restoration plans in the 

Cache Slough Region and flood system activities in the Yolo Bypass/Cache 

Slough Complex; Consider potential to receive up to $300,000 in planning 

funds from the Delta Conservancy for a land use/agriculture/water supply 

study component in the Cache Slough Region;  and Review in concept and 

comment on a draft Memorandum of Agreement and proposed cost-share of 

up to $125,000  to participate with partner flood agencies in the U.S. Army 

Corps of Engineers Sacramento River General Reevaluation Report (GRR) 

process

A - Delta and Statewide Summary

B - Corp's' SMART Feasibility Study Process Flowchart

C - Draft MOA for Local Agencies to Partner with U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

Presentation

Letter to the Delta Conservancy

Minute Order

Attachments:

Director of Resource Management Bill Emlen introduced the item.

Contract Analyst Roberta Goulart provided the Board with an overview of the 

Delta Water Program and activities including California Water Fix and 

EcoRestore, drought and El Nino, future directions, Delta agency plans and 

programs, ecosystem planning in Solano County, and Delta Conservancy 

ecosystem planning. 

Page 15Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9397
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bdbfed32-a659-4dbc-b2eb-21032f6a0dc7.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=651899b3-5596-47a2-8784-44ac1ac49138.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=617396bb-e597-4ebc-8384-d1351a30f990.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b2590329-6358-4892-901c-0a32e7add45d.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=23e391bb-2c9f-44cb-9b93-aacb53456bcb.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=74098708-0030-4d58-be41-55618c8aafa4.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Seifert asked for clarification on the action needed by the Board.

In response to a question from Supervisor Seifert, Ms. Goulart provided the 

Board with information regarding potential future planning funds from the 

Delta Conservancy.

Supervisor Seifert asked if there were any downsides to going after the 

funds.

Mr. Emlen noted that staff was looking for approval to pursue these potential 

funds and commented on the intention for the County to get involved at the 

local level on some of the activities.

Supervisor Thomson commented on discussions with the Delta Conservancy 

Board regarding the funds and suggested a letter be sent from the Chair of 

the Board of Supervisors to the Delta Conservancy regarding the importance 

and need for the funds.

Chairwoman Hannigan noted that the request could be part of a motion for 

the item.

Supervisor Vasquez commented on water supply for the North Bay intake.

Ms. Goulart provided the Board with information on the impacts to water 

supply for the North Bay and agricultural intakes.

Supervisor Vasquez asked whether the report would recommend moving the 

intake to a new location and how to do that.

Ms. Goulart advised that it would and noted that the first steps would be to 

try to quantify elements and what the alternatives could be and what the 

impacts would then be.  

In response to a comment from Supervisor Vasquez, Ms. Goulart advised 

that the County would not want to give up the ability to negotiate details like 

this.

Ms. Goulart continued to provide the Board with an overview of the Delta 

Water Program and activities including flood planning in Solano County.

Deputy County Counsel Peter Miljanich provided the Board with an overview 

of the US Army Corps Sacramento River General Reevaluation Report 

(GRR).

Supervisor Thomson noted that the GRR was a good way to let local 

agencies have a voice and show the state that local agencies could work 

together.

Page 16Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

County Administrator Birgitta Corsello provided the Board with an overview 

of past issues and why it was important to let local agencies have a voice in 

the process. She noted that it was a good opportunity to be included in the 

conversation and hear what was being considered.

Supervisor Vasquez commented on the importance of participating in the 

process and working together with local agencies on the issues together.

On motion of Supervisor Vasquez, seconded by Supervisor Seifert, the Board 

received an update on the County’s Delta Water Program and activities, 

including environmental review and related processes for the Delta tunnels 

project, tracking drought legislation, ecosystem restoration plans in the Cache 

Slough Region and flood system activities in the Yolo Bypass/Cache Slough 

Complex; and Directed the Chair to send a letter to the Delta Conservancy in 

support of the receipt of up to $300,000 in planning funds from the Delta 

Conservancy for a land use/agriculture/water supply study component in the 

Cache Slough Region. So ordered by 5-0 vote.

On motion of Supervisor Vasquez, seconded by Supervisor Spering, the Board 

reviewed in concept and directed staff to continue working on a Memorandum 

of Agreement and proposed cost-share of up to $125,000  to participate with 

partner flood agencies in the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Sacramento River 

General Reevaluation Report (GRR) process. So ordered by 5-0 vote.

County Counsel Dennis Bunting complemented staff and thanked the Board 

for its support.

Supervisor Thomson noted that the money makes a difference in order to 

pay for resources required such as needed staff that does the complex work 

on these types of issues. 

Approved

22 15-1187 Receive a presentation on the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 

(SGMA) planning process and regulation of water wells in Solano County, 

and provide direction to staff as appropriate; Approve an Appropriations 

Transfer Request to increase the Delta Water Activities’ Other Professional 

Services by $90,000, of which $40,000 will come from General Expenditures 

and $50,000 will come from salary savings, for phase one study of 

groundwater conditions in unincorporated Solano County; and Delegate 

authority to the Director of Resource Management to execute necessary 

agreements, contracts, and amendments, that remain within the budgeted 

appropriation to perform the studies, subject to concurrence by County 

Counsel and the County Administrator  

A - Draft SCWA MOU

B - Solano County Well Permit History

C - Average Well Depth by Type

Presentation

Minute Order

Attachments:

Page 17Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9304
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9c5d67a6-ebb3-4424-a48e-203c4a62bb66.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=762855d8-3cb0-4345-84b6-2ac8a45bb46a.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8b8de4b6-e715-4b23-bf50-bc98c4d81c0b.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=89683af7-9c12-4165-bf2b-cf92e8bd0f0a.pptx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ef58c21d-2c32-44f2-a133-a93654c49f8b.pdf


January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Director of Resource Management Bill Emlen introduced the item.

Geologist Misty Kaltreider provided the Board with an overview of the 

Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA) including information on 

groundwater basins and subbasins, Groundwater Sustainable Agency 

(GSA), potential GSA for the Solano Subbasin and steps to form a GSA.

In response to a question from Supervisor Seifert, Ms. Kaltreider provided 

the Board with information on the GSA application process.

Assistant Director of Resource Management Terry Schmidtbauer noted that 

there could be instances where multiple applications could be received for a 

GSA.

Supervisor Seifert asked if the County could object to another entity's 

application or whether it could submit an application to cover the rest of the 

subbasin that wasn't covered and work together with the other entity.

Mr. Schmidtbauer noted that the entity would have to include Solano County 

in their public outreach process first and that the Department of Water 

Resources would likely reject their application as incomplete if Solano 

County was not involved.

Deputy County Counsel Peter Miljanich commented on the GSA application 

process noting that a protest or competing application would cause the 

original application to be considered an incomplete application. 

In response to a question from Supervisor Seifert, Mr. Schmidtbauer noted 

that public outreach would include a notice in the newspaper for two weeks 

and a conducted public hearing.

Mr. Miljanich also noted that the application process included the 

requirement for an explanation of how the GSA would address the needs of 

other basin users.

In response to a question from Supervisor Seifert, Mr. Schmidtbauer noted 

that the noticing requirements were limited but that the application required 

an explanation of how the concerns of other users would be addressed. He 

then commented on potential ways that the County could enter into 

discussions with potential entities such as Yolo County or the Solano County 

Water Agency (SCWA) to manage the GSA areas.

Supervisor Vasquez asked why the basins were outlined with the boundaries 

shown.

Ms. Kaltreider advised that basins are defined by hydrologically defined 

boundaries and that subbasins are generally subdivided for management 

purposes.

Supervisor Vasquez questioned why the boundaries should be divided 

further.

Page 18Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Ms. Kaltreider noted that there were advantages to keeping the basins 

defined as they were for management and potential recharge purposes. She 

then continued to provide the Board with information on responsibilities 

under SGMA and the Groundwater Sustainable Plan (GSP).

Supervisor Seifert commented on the first deadline in 2017 and asked if the 

plan had to be formed or just the GSA.

Mr. Miljanich advised that only the GSA had to be formed by that deadline.

Ms. Kaltreider continued to provide the Board with information on 

SGMA/GSA Solano Subbasin work efforts by SCWA and the County, 

general principles of a draft Memorandum of Understanding for a GSA 

formation process, Yolo Subbasin work conducted by SCWA and the County 

and water supply well permitting trends.

Supervisor Seifert asked if drilling deeper into a well required a new permit 

and Ms. Kaltreider advised that it did.

In response to a question from Supervisor Vasquez, Ms. Kaltreider 

commented that the County did not have data for individual and ag water 

wells.

Mr. Schmidtbauer also commented that the County did not have 

requirements for monitoring or reporting of individual private well use.

In response to a question from Supervisor Seifert, Mr. Schmidtbauer advised 

that meters could be put on the wells, however the complicated part would 

be requiring the usage to be reported. He further noted that this was 

something that could be implemented under a GSA, however there would 

likely be pushback by individual well owners on this. Lastly, he noted that 

there were other ways to determine the amount of water being used in the 

area.

Mr. Miljanich clarified that the County had the authority to change the 

ordinance to require monitoring.

Ms. Corsello noted that the laws had just recently changed to give authority 

to do the monitoring.

Mr. Bunting noted that the priorities were starting to change to focus on how 

much water being used and that the Board's policy may need to change as 

well. 

Ms. Kaltreider continued to provide the Board with information on water 

supply well permitting trends, proposed research to gather data/evaluate 

existing data and further assessment as needed.

Page 19Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Spering commented on the need to determine the capacity of the 

basin first and asked how the County could collectively look at the capacity 

of the Yolo subbasin as it included a portion of the County.

Ms. Kaltreider commented on monitoring studies available already and noted 

that the proposed research included evaluating water needs.

Supervisor Spering noted that the Solano Irrigation District was already 

talking about doing a groundwater study and asked what the best way would 

be to ensure that the entire basin's draw of water was looked at as opposed 

to only the boundary areas for certain users.

Mr. Schmidtbauer noted that staff would be working with the other agencies 

to look at this issue to figure out how to measure the full draw of water from 

the basin. He advised that the study would involve analyzing data on hand 

and determining what data was missing.

Supervisor Spering commented on the need to share data and confirm the 

numbers to make sure the data collected was correct. He then asked if the 

agricultural wells were on electrical 240 power and noted that it could be a 

way to measure groundwater.

Mr. Schmidtbauer advised that staff was looking at changing the well permit 

application to collect this type of information.

Ms. Corsello noted that the Building Division knows some of the data 

because of the electrical permit requirements but the problem was that the 

data was not all in one place. She commented on the need for all water user 

groups to look at usage, delivery and sustainability of water in their areas, 

including the County for the unincorporated areas.

Supervisor Spering asked who the conveyor was for all of the interest 

groups.

Mr. Schmidtbauer advised that SCWA staff was leading the effort.

Supervisor Spering asked if there had been any pushback from any other 

agencies about SCWA being the conveyor of the plan. He commented on 

the need to explore who the conveyor was and how to get everyone to the 

table. 

Mr. Schmidtbauer commented on the options to explore regarding the basin 

boundaries and proposals to change the boundaries.

Supervisor Vasquez commented on the basin boundaries and advised 

leaving them as they were.

Page 20Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Seifert commented on the need to address how much water was 

really needed for the future in order to determine if there was a potential 

problem or not that needed to be addressed. She then commented on the 

need to figure out how to keep the process manageable and under control, 

to have a good support team in place for decisions to be made, the need to 

be proactive as to what the County wants and not reactionary to a potential 

application from Yolo County. 

Supervisor Seifert advised that there needed to be a team effort between the 

counties. She commented that there needed to be good data available in 

order to make decisions and on the importance of working as a team across 

the county on all the basins to ensure that resources would be available in 

fifty years. Lastly, she commented on the MOU (Memorandum of 

Understanding) and the need to work together in the absence of an MOU on 

the GSA formation.

Ms. Kaltreider provided the Board with information on the next steps, 

timelines, upcoming issues and actions. 

Supervisor Spering asked if anyone was looking at the amount of water 

needed for economic projections in 2020 or 2040.

Ms. Corsello commented that she didn't believe anyone was looking at it in 

this way as a bigger picture, however she advised that the cities would look 

at this in their General Plan updates.

Supervisor Spering advised that Los Angeles County had looked at this and 

suggested that staff look at this.

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on this matter and the following comments were received:

A) Al Medvitz, Montezuma Hills, commented on lack of science used for

determining basin boundaries and the lack of data on groundwater, 

importance of gathering data from community stakeholders that use water, 

increases in water use by agriculture and the need for some kind of controls 

on water usage.

Supervisor Vasquez noted that the Board had talked about this previously 

and advised the need to avoid acting when it's too late. He commented that it 

would be a struggle of what to do next for the best interest of the County.

Mr. Schmidtbauer noted that staff needed direction from the Board on how to 

proceed.

Chairwoman Hannigan commented on the need for accountability in terms of 

applicants coming in and suggested changing the ordinance or requirements 

to enable this.

Mr. Schmidtbauer noted that this was something that staff had already 

started looking into and could do under the normal well permitting process. 

Page 21Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

On motion of Supervisor Vasquez, seconded by Supervisor Spering, the Board 

received a presentation on the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 

(SGMA) planning process and regulation of water wells in Solano County, and 

provided direction to staff; Approved an Appropriations Transfer Request to 

increase the Delta Water Activities’ Other Professional Services by $90,000, of 

which $40,000 will come from General Expenditures and $50,000 will come 

from salary savings, for phase one study of groundwater conditions in 

unincorporated Solano County; and Delegated authority to the Director of 

Resource Management to execute necessary agreements, contracts, and 

amendments, that remain within the budgeted appropriation to perform the 

studies, subject to concurrence by County Counsel and the County 

Administrator.  So ordered by 5-0 vote.

Mr. Schmidtbauer asked for direction from the Board regarding the basin 

boundaries and a potential modification request from Yolo County. 

Supervisor Spering asked that staff come back to the Board with the 

consensus of the partner agencies first before SID did anything.

Mr. Emlen advised that there needed to be more data and analysis done on 

this before staff could bring back a good recommendation.

Mr. Schmidtbauer asked for direction from the Board regarding the MOU.

B) Kevin Browning, unincorporated County, commented on value of land

without water, potential sinking of land as aqueducts empty, monitoring of 

wells, and loss of groundwater in neighboring counties.

County Counsel Dennis Bunting commented on the importance of having an 

MOU in place. 

Supervisor Seifert commented on narrowing of participation based on 

previous conversations of stakeholders concerning an MOU and advised it 

would be better to engage stakeholders without an MOU.

On motion of Supervisor Vasquez, seconded by Supervisor Spering, the Board 

directed staff to continue assisting the Solano County Water Agency and the 

interagency working group in developing a Memorandum of Understanding 

(MOU) of guiding principles for collaboration toward forming a GSA for the 

Solano Subbasin.  So ordered by 5-0 vote.

Supervisor Seifert asked for more information regarding the question of 

subsidence.

SCWA Principal Water Resources Specialist Chris Lee advised that they 

were monitoring for subsidence in Vacaville and Dixon and had noted very 

minimal subsidence compared to San Joaquin County over the last three 

years. 

Page 22Solano County



January 12, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS AND REPORTS ON MEETINGS

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the Board to make comments or 

reports on meetings. The following comments were received:

A. Chairwoman Hannigan requested that this meeting of the Solano County 

Board of Supervisors be adjourned in memory of former Solano County 

Coroner James Edward "Jim" O'Brien.

B. Supervisor Vasquez requested that this meeting of the Solano County 

Board of Supervisors be adjourned in memory of former County Supervisor 

Don Pippo.

Supervisor Spering commented on the past accomplishments of Mr. Pippo 

and former Supervisor Osby Davis and the support they provided to 

improvements in Suisun City.

Supervisor Vasquez asked that all the Board members sign the memory 

certificate.

ADJOURN:

This meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors adjourned at 4:20 

p.m. in memory of James Edward "Jim" O'Brien and Don Pippo.  Next 

meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors will be January 26, 2016 

at 8:30 a.m., Board Chambers, 675 Texas Street, Fairfield, California.

________________________________

ERIN HANNIGAN, Chairwoman

Solano County Board of Supervisors

BIRGITTA E. CORSELLO, Clerk

Solano County Board of Supervisors

By ______________________________

Jeanette Bellinder, Chief Deputy Clerk

Page 23Solano County


